# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/16/2019 9:22 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No.	96/42-3

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES,

Respondent,

v.

#### CHRISTELLE CUNNINGHAM,

Petitioner.

Court of Appeals No. 76612-1-I

#### PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Corey Evan Parker WSBA No. 40006 1275 12th Avenue NW, Suite 1B Issaquah, WA 98027 Ph: 425-221-2195

Fax: 1-877-802-8580

corey@coreyevanparkerlaw.com

Attorney for Petitioner

# **

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Christelle Cunningham (Ms. Cunningham), the Petitioner, requests review of the Court of Appeals' decision affirming the Superior Court's order denying her Petition for Judicial Review. The Superior Court declined to review the Washington State Department of Social and Health Services' (DSHS) decision that she negligently maltreated a child by accidentally leaving him unattended for approximately 30 minutes.

Ms. Cunningham also appeals the Superior Court's order denying her

Motion to Amend her Petition for Judicial Review of the Washington State

Department's Early Learning (DEL) review and revocation of Ms. Cunningham's license based on the DSHS' finding of negligent maltreatment.

#### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Ms. Cunningham seeks this Court's review of the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I, in Case No. 76612-1-I, dated December 17, 2018. A true copy of the Court of Appeals' decision is appended hereto as Attachment "A."

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Ms. Cunningham seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision pursuant to RAP 13.4 based on the following issues:

1. WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS' ERRONEOUS
APPLICATION OF RCW 26.44.020 TO MS. CUNNINGHAM'S
ACTIONS PRESENTS A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF LAW UNDER
THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON?

- 2. WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS' ERRONEOUS APPLICATION OF RCW 34.05.570 TO MS. CUNNINGHAM'S CASE PRESENTS A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF LAW UNDER THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON?
- 3. WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS' ERRONEOUS DENIAL OF MS. CUNNINGHAM'S MOTION TO AMEND HER PETITION FOR REVIEW TO ADD DEL'S REVIEW ORDER PRESENTS A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF LAW UNDER THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ms. Cunningham was a licensed child care provider from January 25, 2008 until her license was revoked by DEL on November 14, 2014. Clerk's Papers ("CP") 1174, 1215. Ms. Cunningham's most recent license was issued in January 26, 2014. Certified Appeal Board Record ("CABR") 249. Her license authorized her to operate Kids R' Us, a family home child care in Seattle, Washington for up to 12 children ranging in age from birth to 12 years. *Id*.; CP 185: 9-21.

On August 1, 2014, while Ms. Cunningham was operating her home child care, Kids R' Us, Ms. Cunningham unknowingly left a child, TJ, at a local community center. A custodian, security guard, and the two middle school girls observed TJ alone on the playground for approximately 30 minutes. CP 168: 11-

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Certified Appeal Board Record is included in the Clerk's Papers, but is not numbered. As such, references to the Certified Appeal Board Record will be made to the page number of the Certified Appeal Board Record ("CABR").

17 At approximately 12:20 p.m., a recreation center worker and the girls brought TJ into the Community Center. CABR 275-285; Police Report, 8-9. They took TJ to the Center's indoor gym to be attended to by the permanent staff member and play ball. CP 470: 21-25; 1177; 1217. Eventually, a Garfield Center employee called the police and they were dispatched to Garfield at 12:41 p.m. and arrived at 12:51 p.m. CP 1177, 1217. From 12:20 p.m. until the police arrived, TJ was under adult supervision and inside the Community Center. CP 469:14-17. Thereafter, he was under the police officers' supervision. CP 485:23-486:1. TJ communicated to the police his name, age, and that he was with "Ms. Christelle." CABR 275-286; Police Report, 9. One of the officers described TJ as in "good spirits and happy he was playing." CP 487:11-16.

Once Ms. Cunningham realized that TJ was missing. she phoned the Garfield Community Center. At that time she was informed the police were on the scene. She then returned to the community center. CP 1177, 1217-18. The police received permission from TJ's father to release the boy to Ms. Cunningham. CP 554:20-555:4.

#### A. DSHS Proceedings

In 2014, the initial DSHS proceeding took place. In that proceeding, parents of children who were enrolled in Ms. Cunningham's home child care testified to the excellent care and nurturing their children received from her. *See*, *e.g.*, CP 1041:8-13; 1053: 2-7. TJ's parents described Ms. Cunningham as a

trusted member of their child care "tribe" and "like family" and explained that they would return their children to her care immediately. CP 559:15-19; 568: 12-15; 568:24-569:1. TJ's father described it as an "isolated incident." CP 559: 16-17. In fact, all the parents who testified at the administrative hearing indicated that, despite the DSHS finding, they would return their children to Ms.

Cunningham's care. CP 580:5-6; 1053: 2-7; 1060:19-21. The parents all also testified that they did not ever have any complaints and had never heard any complaints about Ms. Cunningham prior to the DSHS finding. *See, e.g.,* CP 1050: 17-20;1060: 14-16.

The record shows and the administrative judge found that Ms.

Cunningham "did truly care for the children in her care." CP 1182. TJ had been under Ms. Cunningham's care for four years, since he was 4 months old.

It is undisputed that, during the time that she operated Kids R' Us, Ms. Cunningham had in place and utilized numerous protocols and procedures to ensure the safety and security of the children in her care, including "partnering", "link lines", "attendance sheets" and "head counts". CP 207:19-21, 221:23-222: 21, 231:15, 232:7-24, 324:15-235:9, 707:24-25.

The DSHS proceedings resulted in the following findings:

(1) the DSHS issued a founded finding of child negligent maltreatment against Ms. Cunningham. A true copy of the DHS decision is appended hereto as Attachment "B." and

(2) the DEL disqualified Ms. Cunningham as a child care worker and revoked her facility's child care license. A true copy of the DEL decision is appended hereto as Attachment "C."

On October 22, 2014, the DSHS Division of Licensed Resources/Child Protective Services ("CPS") issued a letter to Ms. Cunningham notifying her that it had determined she had negligently treated or maltreated a child in her child care (The finding she had negligently treated or maltreated a child is hereinafter referred to as the "DSHS Finding"). CP 1171.

Following DSHS' determination of neglect against Ms. Cunningham, DEL thoroughly reviewed Ms. Cunningham's licensing history and on November 14, 2014 hand delivered to Ms. Cunningham a Notice of Disqualification and Revocation of Child Care License. CP 1143-49, 1161-67 ("DEL Decision"). The DEL Decision made it clear that the WAC required that DEL, upon a finding of negligent maltreatment, revoke Ms. Cunningham's license and disqualify her from child care.

On November 20, 2014, Ms. Cunningham requested that the DSHS Finding be reviewed. CABR 321-324, Exhibit 33. On December 9, 2014, the DSHS issued a letter indicating that the Finding would not be changed. CP 1141.

5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In addition to citing the DSHS finding of negligent maltreatment, the DEL Decision cited other alleged violations of the Washington Administrative Code ("WAC") from 2011-2012. CP 1144-46. Despite these alleged violations, in January of 2014, DEL had issued to Ms. Cunningham, a license to increase the children in her care from 5 to 12. CP 1215-16. The other violations are not before the Court.

On December 22, 2014, Ms. Cunningham requested a hearing to contest both the DSHS Finding and the DEL Decision to the Office of Administrative Hearings and the DEL. CP 1150-59. A prehearing conference for the two dockets was held on January 15, 2015, which resulted in the matters being scheduled for a consolidated hearing that was held on May 11-13, 2015, and May 18-19, 2015. CP 16-1067.

On August 4, 2015, the Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") mailed an Initial Order on both the DEL and DSHS matters. CP a1169-94. In Initial Order the ALJ affirmed DSHS's Finding of negligent maltreatment. *Id*.

On August 27, 2015, Ms. Cunningham filed a Petition for Review of the Initial Order to the Administrative Review Judges, contesting the legal conclusions reached in paragraphs 9, affirming the DSHS Finding, as well as paragraphs 14 and 22, affirming the DEL Decision to revoke and disqualify as a consequence of the DSHS Finding. CP 1200-01.

DEL moved for a stay of its review of the ALJ's Initial Order relating to paragraphs 14 and 22, pending the outcome of the DSHS' review the ALJ's Initial Order. CP 1085. On September 9, 2015, DSHS filed a Response to the Petition for Review. CP 1085. The DEL's review was stayed on September 16, 2015. CP 1085.

On December 29, 2015, the DSHS Review Judge and Board of Appeals entered a Review Decision and Final Order ("DSHS Review Order") affirming

the ALJ's Initial Order and the DSHS' finding of negligent maltreatment. CP 1212-28.

#### **B.** Superior Court Proceedings

On January 20, 2016, Ms. Cunningham filed a Petition for Judicial Review in King County Superior Court ("Petition") of the DSHS Finding and DSHS Review Order and the Review Order. CP 1-4.

On February 1, 2016, DEL filed its response to Ms. Cunningham's Petition for Review. CP 1085.

On February 10, 2016, the DEL Review Judge affirmed the Initial Order (hereinafter referred to as the "DEL Review Order"). CP 1085-88. The DEL Review Judge held that as a result of the DSHS Review Order affirmance of negligent maltreatment, it was required to disqualify Ms. Cunningham from providing licensed child care, caring for children, and having any unsupervised access to children receiving early learning services. CP 1087-88.

On April 26, 2016, Ms. Cunningham moved to amend her Petition to seek review of the DEL Review Order, which is based on the DSHS Finding and the DSHS Review Order. CP 1071-1106. On April 29, 2016, DSHS responded in opposition to the Motion to Amend. CP 1107-1243. On May 3, 2016, Ms. Cunningham filed her reply in support of the Motion to Amend. CP 1244-50. On May 4, 2016, the Superior Court denied the Motion to Amend. CP 1261-62. On

May 13, 2016, Ms. Cunningham moved for reconsideration on her Motion to Amend and on May 25, 206, it was denied. CP 1266-70; 1271.

On November 18, 2016, the Superior Court heard argument from counsel and on December 27, 2016, entered its Order Affirming Review Decision and Final Order (hereinafter referred to as the "Final Order"). CP 1327-28.

#### C. Appellate Court Proceedings

In 2017, Ms. Cunningham timely filed her notice of appeal of the Superior Court's order denying her Petition for Judicial Review with the Court of Appeals, Division I. On appeal, Ms. Cunningham argued that:

- (1) substantial evidence did not support a finding of negligent treatment,
- (2) her conduct did not "constitute child neglect or negligent treatment," and
- (3) the agency finding was arbitrary and capricious.

On December 17, 2018, the Court of Appeals entered its decision affirming the Superior Court's order. Attachment A.

#### V. ARGUMENT

#### A. When Review is Appropriate

The Rules of Appellate Procedure, RAP 13.4, allow a party to petition the Supreme Court for discretionary review of a Court of Appeals' decision. A petition for review will be accepted if:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals' final order based on a determination that there is a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States.

In the present case, as discussed in detail below, the Court of Appeals'

Order upholding the finding of child negligent maltreatment should be set aside

by the Court, pursuant to RCW 34.05.570(3), because the DSHS Finding's

determination on whether there was a "serious disregard of consequences of such

magnitude as to constitute a clear and present danger" is not supported by

substantial evidence, and is based on an erroneous interpretation and application

of the law.

The Superior Court erroneously interpreted and applied WAC 388-15-009(5) in Ms. Cunningham's case because the Department's interpretation is outside the statutory authority of the agency and erroneously fails to follow the statute governing child abuse and neglect. Finally, the Court should find that the trial court abused its discretion when it denied Ms. Cunningham's Motion to Amend the Petition for Review to add DEL and its Review Order.

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Presents a Significant Question of Law Under the Constitution of the State of Washington with Respect to the Court of Appeals' Erroneous Application of RCW 26.44.020 to Ms. Cunningham's Actions.

Washington's statutory scheme regarding child abuse and neglect unambiguously requires a determination as to whether alleged conduct rises to the level of a serious disregard of consequences of such magnitude constituting a clear and present danger. RCW 26.44.020(1) defines "Abuse or neglect" as follows:

[S]exual abuse, sexual exploitation, or injury of a child by any person under circumstances which cause harm to the child's health, welfare, or safety, excluding conduct permitted under RCW 9A.16.100; or the negligent treatment or maltreatment of a child by a person responsible for or providing care to the child. An abused child is a child who has been subjected to child abuse or neglect as defined in this section.

RCW 26.44.020(14) further defines "negligent treatment or maltreatment"

as:

[A]n act or a failure to act, or the cumulative effects of a pattern of conduct, behavior, or inaction, that evidences a serious disregard of consequences of such magnitude as to constitute a clear and present danger to a child's health, welfare, or safety, including but not limited to conduct prohibited under RCW 9A.42.100. When considering whether a clear and present danger exists, evidence of a parent's substance abuse as a contributing factor to negligent treatment or maltreatment shall be given great weight. The fact that siblings share a bedroom is not, in and of itself, negligent treatment or maltreatment. Poverty, homelessness, or exposure to domestic violence as defined in RCW 26.50.010 that is perpetrated against someone other than the child does not constitute negligent treatment or maltreatment in and of itself.

No language in the child abuse and neglect statute directs or authorizes DSHS, either explicitly or implicitly, to promulgate rules regarding or expanding the statutory definitions of either "abuse or neglect," or "negligent treatment or maltreatment."

The Court Appeals found that the plain language of the statute does not require actual harm to show a "clear and present danger" to a child's health, welfare, or safety. Petitioner is not arguing that actual harm must be shown. The Court of Appeals found that a "clear and present" danger must be close in time to the act or failure to act. Petitioner argues that the mere failure to protect a child from possible, but unknown harms is not sufficient to show "clear and present danger." Petitioner argues there was no significant risk of harm to TJ that would show a "clear and present danger." The mere exposure to possible risks of clear and present danger alone is not the standard. To be deemed negligent maltreatment, there must be actual, clear and present danger to the child. The DSHS failed to meet that standard here.

It is well established that Courts have consistently focused on the statutory elements regarding a "serious disregard" of consequences constituting a "clear and present danger" to a child's health, welfare and safety. See *Morgan v. Dep't of Soc. and Health Servs.*, 99 Wn. App. 148, 153-154, 992 P.2d 1023, 1026 (2000); *In Re Welfare of Fredericksen*, 25 Wn. App. 726, 733, 610 P.2d 371, 375

(1979); In the Matter of the Dependency of M.S.D., 144 Wn. App. 468, 182 P.3d 978 (2008).

The unchallenged findings in this case established "[t]he fact that TJ was found safe, and was secured by friendly children and adults." CP 1227 ¶ 11. The Garfield playground is on a property with a staffed Community Center and next to a high school. CP 171: 16-24; 1176, 1216. The record shows that on August 1, 2014, from approximately 12:00 p.m. until 12:50 p.m., there were at least four adult employees of the Community Center, the playground, or the park grounds, who were at or within 15 feet (CP 169:8-11) of the Garfield playground: a custodian (CP 165:23-166:10), a security guard (CP 168: 14-17), a permanent Community Center staff member (CP 168:21-169:2), and a temporary intermittent recreation assistant<sup>3</sup> (CP 160:25-161:7). Additionally, as part of the summer youth program, a high-school aged girl was working in support of the Community Center on August 1, 2014. CP 887:7-15. There were two other middle-school aged girls on the playground. CP 173: 21-25. Finally, on that date and during that time, the playground was described as quiet, empty, with no other people or adults coming through. CP 173:7-11; 177:5-6. There is no record evidence of any suspicious, dangerous, or unusual, activity or persons, near or around the playground or the Garfield Community Center grounds on August 1, 2014.

<sup>-</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Ms. Debra Khaljani, the temporary recreation assistant, testified that she was a certified substitute teacher and that the Community Center required background checks prior to hiring her. CP 162:23-163: 3; 163:9-11.

Clearly, there was no significant risk of harm to the TJ that would show a "clear and present danger."

In addition, there is no record evidence that Ms. Cunningham intentionally or was grossly negligent when she left TJ behind. The Review Judge found that Ms. Cunningham did not mean to leave TJ at the park. CP 1223 ¶ 34. Accidently missing a head count or seatbelt check, and/or trusting a verbal confirmation from her assistant that everyone was in the van, does not constitute a reckless disregard of TJ's safety. There is no evidence that Ms. Cunningham knew or should have known that these acts would create an unreasonable risk of bodily harm and a high degree of probability that harm would result to TJ. At worst, Ms. Cunningham was negligent and that is not a basis for a finding of child neglect.

C. The Court of Appeals' Decision Presents a Significant Question of Law Under the Constitution of the State of Washington with

Respect to the Court of Appeals' Erroneous Application of RCW 34.05.570 to Ms. Cunningham's Case.

Under the Administrative Procedure Act, RCW 34.05 et seq., an individual who is substantially prejudiced by a state agency adjudicative order may seek judicial review of both the individual order in her case, and the state agency regulations on which the order was based. RCW 34.05.570(3); *see also* RCW 34.05.570(1)(d); RCW 34.05.530; RCW 34.05.570(2)(a).

The reviewing court may set aside the agency's final adjudicative order based on a determination that the order (or the statute or rule on which the order is

based) is outside the statutory authority of the agency; is not supported by substantial evidence; or the agency has erroneously interpreted or applied the law. RWC 34.05.570(2)(c) and RCW 34.05.570(3).

In the present case, the DSHS' Review Order upholding the finding of child negligent maltreatment should be set aside by the Court, pursuant to RCW 34.05.570(3), because the DSHS finding's determination on whether there was a "serious disregard of consequences of such magnitude as to constitute a clear and present danger" is outside the Department's statutory authority, is not supported by substantial evidence, and is based on an erroneous interpretation and application of the law.

DSHS's abuse of children regulations at WAC 388-15-009(5) first faithfully recite the statutory definition of "negligent treatment or maltreatment" but goes on to add language not found in the RCW. This added language expands the statutory definition of the term to also include "failure to provide adequate food, shelter, clothing, supervision, or health care necessary for a child's health, welfare, or safety..." WAC 388-15-009(5).

In this case, the Review Judge found that Ms. Cunningham failed to provide "adequate supervision" as set out in the WAC definition. CP 1226-27 ¶ 9. The Review Judge goes on to find that "[h]er failure to supervise shows a serious disregard of the possible consequences to the child of such magnitude that it

created a clear and present danger to TJ's health, welfare, and safety." CP 1226-  $27 \, \P \, 9$ .

The Review Judge noted that WAC 388-15-009(5) creates the requirement that for a child's caregiver's act to be negligent treatment or maltreatment, that act must "[show] a serious disregard of the consequences to the child of such magnitude that it creates a clear and present danger to the child's health, welfare, and safety." However, the Review Judge then interpreted and applied subsection (a) of the WAC to be a list of acts by a caregiver that are functionally, "per se" serious enough to meet the above quoted requirement.

The Review Judge found that as a matter of law, the regulation permits the failure to supervise without more to constitute negligent maltreatment regardless of whether there is any evidence that the failure demonstrated a "serious disregard of such magnitude" that it creates a "clear and present danger" as a result. Even if the Review Judge did not explicitly state in the Review Order that a failure to supervise was, per se a "serious disregard," that is the consequence of the ruling.

The DSHS Review Order and Final Order should be reversed as outside the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the DSHS under RCW 34.05.570(3)(b). Further, the DSHS erroneously interpreted or applied the law under RCW 34.05.570(3)(d) and its decision is not supported by evidence that is substantial when viewed in the light of the whole record before the Court under RCW 34.05.570(3)(e).

D. The Court of Appeals' Decision Presents a Significant Question of Law Under the Constitution of State of Washington with Respect to the Court of Appeals' Erroneous Denial of Ms. Cunningham's Motion to Amend her Petition for Review to add DEL's Review Order

The Court should review the trial court's abuse of discretion when it denied Ms. Cunningham's Motion to Amend the Petition for Review to add DEL and its Review Order. DSHS opposed the Motion to Amend as an untimely petition for judicial review of the DEL Review Order. CP 1107-1130. The DSHS argued that Ms. Cunningham could not use the civil rules of procedure on pleading amendments to circumvent the APA's statute of limitations requiring that Ms. Cunningham file her petition for judicial review within 30 days of service of the DEL Review Order. *Id*.

The DEL Review Order purports to have been served on February 10, 2016, making March 11, 2016 the deadline to file the petition. CP 1115: 1-10. The Superior Court denied Ms. Cunningham's Motion to Amend by holding that it had no discretion to grant the Motion. CP 1261-62.

The Superior Court's denial of the Motion to Amend for "lack of discretion" is erroneous. The APA establishes the exclusive means of judicial review for agency action, except: "ancillary procedural matters before the reviewing court, including intervention..., consolidation, [and] joinder..., are governed, to the extent not inconsistent with this chapter, by court rule." RCW 34.05.510(2). Thus, as long as the procedural matter before the trial court is

ancillary and not inconsistent with Chapter 34.05 of the APA, then the court is governed by the applicable rule of civil procedure. Amendments are analogous to joinder, intervention, and consolidation, such that they should be deemed "ancillary."<sup>4</sup>

A ruling on a request to amend a complaint under CR 15(a) or to file a supplemental complaint under CR 15(d) is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Herron v. Tribune Publ. Co, 108 Wn.2d 162, 736 P.2d 249 (1987). The primary consideration in permitting amendment is prejudice to the opposing party resulting from delay, surprise, jury confusion, or unrelated claims relying on a different factual basis. *Id*.

CR 15 is not inconsistent with RCW 34.05. The legislative intent of RCW Chapter 34.05 is

to clarify the existing law of administrative procedure, to achieve greater consistency with other states and the federal government in administrative procedure, and to provide greater public and legislative access to administrative decision making.

RCW 34.05.001. The purposes of CR 15 are to "facilitate a proper decision on the merits" and "to provide each party with adequate notice of the basis of the claims or defenses asserted against him." *Herron v. Tribune Publ. Co*, 108 Wn.2d at 165, 736 P.2d at 253 (citations omitted). In addition, the Washington Supreme Court

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Black's Law Dictionary defined "ancillary" as "Supplementary; subordinate." Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014).

has held that relation back under CR 15(c) does not subvert the policies behind statutes of limitations once the notice and prejudice requirements have been met. Haberman v. Washington Public Power Supply Sys.,109 Wn.2d 107, 172-73, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987).

The Superior Court had jurisdiction and abused its discretion when it failed to grant the Motion to Amend. Allowing the Amended Petition would not have prejudice either DEL or DSHS; both of which were notified that the DSHS Review Order was on appeal. There is no record evidence supporting otherwise. The fact that the administrative hearing and the Initial Order resulting therefrom consolidated the DEL and DSHS proceedings created reasonable confusion in relation to the subsequent review orders and judicial review.

After the Initial Order, Ms. Cunningham only sought review of DSHS finding of negligent treatment and DEL licensing decision based on that finding. The DEL proceedings were stayed pending the DSHS Review Order, which further confused matters. It was not clear to Ms. Cunningham or her counsel that she would also have to appeal the DEL Order until April 2016. These facts support a finding of excusable neglect.

The DEL Review Order and DSHS Review Order are inextricably intertwined. The denial of the Motion to Amend produces the absurd possibility of reversing a final order upon which another is based, without relieving the party from both orders. Washington Court Rule 60(b)(6) provides that "the court may

relieve a party or the party's legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons:"... a prior judgment upon which it is based has been reversed or otherwise vacated, or it is no longer equitable that the judgment should have prospective application." Therefore, Petitioner should be found to have filed her Petition to Amend in a timely manner.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should grant discretionary review of the appellate court's denial of Ms. Cunningham's appeal under RAP 13.4. The Court of Appeals abused its discretion when it affirmed the Superior Court's decision to deny Ms. Cunningham's motion to amend her petition for judicial review to add DEL's Review Order disqualifying Ms. Cunningham from child care and revoking her license as a result of the DSHS Review Order. Finally, the Court should authorize an award of reasonable attorneys' fees and costs to Ms. Cunningham.