FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/27/2019 3:36 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 96742-3

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### CHRISTELLE CUNNINGHAM,

### Appellant,

v.

# STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL & HEALTH SERVICES

Respondent.

## DSHS ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

PATRICIA L. ALLEN Assistant Attorney General WSBA #27109 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-7045 constitutional questions, Ms. Cunningham fails to cite to a single provision of the constitution at issue, or make any constitutional arguments.

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

#### VI. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. There Is No Viable Constitutional Claim Warranting Review In This Case.

Ms. Cunningham claims that this Court should review the findings of Division I in her case under RAP 13.4(b)(3) based on the assertion that the courts below erroneously applied RCW 26.44.020, RCW 34.05.570, and CR 15 to her case. PFR at 1-2. Her briefing does not explain how the alleged legal errors she cites implicate constitutional law so as to warrant review by this Court.

# 1. Ms. Cunningham cites no clause of the Washington State Constitution in support of her claims.

In order to succeed in her petition for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3), Ms. Cunningham would at a minimum need to explain how the provisions of the Washington State Constitution, her only basis for seeking review, have been violated. But she does not even cite the Constitution, and instead simply restates her disagreement with the application of relevant statutes and civil rules to the facts of her case. PFR at 1-19. This cannot support review by this Court on constitutional grounds.

Further, Ms. Cunningham's invocation of the Washington Constitution should not be considered because this Court generally does not review issues that were not presented to the court of appeals. *Peoples Nat. Bank of Wash. v. Peterson*, 82 Wn.2d 822, 830, 514 P.2d 159 (1973). Ms. Cunningham presented no constitutional argument below, and as in her PFR, never cited the Washington Constitution in her briefing to Division I. PFR at 14-15; Brief of Appellant filed 10/27/17. Because she provides no citations or analysis to support her claims, this Court should decline to review them. *Bryant v. Palmer Cooking Coal Co.*, 86 Wn. App. 204, 216, 936 P.2d 1163 (1997).

# 2. Errors in application of the law to facts in a civil case are not of constitutional magnitude.

Instead of raising a genuine constitutional issue, Ms. Cunningham simply repeats her unsuccessful arguments that the founded finding in her case was based on erroneous application of statutory law to the facts found below;—facts that were not contested on appeal. Slip Op. at 7-8; PFR at 1-19. This is not sufficient to sustain her request for review from this Court. Errors in applying a statutory right are not constitutional errors, and thus are not fit for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3). *State v. Hughes*, 154 Wn.2d 118, 153, 110 P.3d 192 (2005), *overruled on other grounds by Washington v. Recuenco*, 548 U.S. 212, 126 S.Ct. 2546, 165 L.Ed.2d 466 (2006).

Further, Ms. Cunningham's arguments mischaracterize both the record and the Court of Appeal's decision. While Ms. Cunningham complains that the agency decision did not evaluate whether there was "serious disregard of consequences of such magnitude as to constitute a clear and present danger" to the child as required statute, the Court of Appeals explicitly disagreed, based on the record:

[T]he DSHS Board of Appeals Review Judge did not disregard the statutory definition of negligent treatment. The extensive unchallenged findings support the conclusion that leaving four-year-old T.J. alone at the Garfield Community

Center playground for approximately and hour and a half evidences a serious disregard of consequences of such magnitude as to constitute a clear and present danger to T.J.'s welfare or safety.

Slip Op. at 17. As the Court of Appeals noted, the record was replete with evidence that Ms. Cunningham did not perform the customary headcounts and seatbelt checks before leaving a child behind in a public space with access to traffic and random individuals including sex offenders residing in the area. Slip Op. at 4-5, 20. There is no legal error in these conclusions, which do not rise to the level of constitutional issues and cannot support review as requested by Ms. Cunningham.

Ms. Cunningham's second argument, based on court rules rather than constitutional principles, is equally unavailing. She claims that she should have been allowed to amend her petition for judicial review of the DSHS decision to add a new challenge to the findings of a completely separate administrative agency under CR 15. PFR at 16-19. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Ms. Cuningham's argument, noting that to allow a civil complaint amendment to substitute for a petition for review would undermine the "exclusive means of judicial review for agency action" established in the Washington Administrative Procedures Act. Slip Op. at 22. Ms. Cunningham's attempt to substitute civil rules for statutory obligations is not based on constitutional principles, and thus would not support this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) even if meritorious.

# B. Ms. Cunningham has not briefed and may not rely upon RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), or (4) to obtain review.

Ms. Cunningham may reply to this response with new theories under different sections of RAP 13.4(b). She should not be allowed to seek avenues of review not presented in her opening brief as a matter of basic fairness. The rationale of the *Byrant* decision applies with equal force to Ms. Cunningham's opening brief and any reply brief she might file. *Bryant*, 86 Wn. App. at 216. Ms. Cunningham should not be allowed to proceed on a trial and error basis to come up with new theories on reply that are not subject to briefing by the Department in response.

### VII. CONCLUSION

The Appellant has failed to establish that the Court of Appeals decision in this case presents a significant question of law under the Washington Constitution that should be resolved by the Supreme Court. The Respondent respectfully requests that the Court deny the Ms. Cunningham's Petition for Review.